IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 21-0227

TODD RAND,
PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT,

vs.

SECURITY NATIONAL CORPORATION d/b/a
SECURITY NATIONAL BANK, an Iowa Corporation,
DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES,

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR
WOODBURY COUNTY
Case No. LACV182837
THE HONORABLE STEVEN J. ANDREASEN

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Stanley E. Munger (AT0005583)
MUNGER, REINSCHMIDT & DENNE, LLP
600 Fourth Street, Suite 703
PO Box 912
Sioux City, IA 51102
Phone: (712) 233-3635
Fax: (712) 277-7386
Email: stanmunger@mrldlaw.net
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ROUTING STATEMENT

Statutes

Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(3).

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND PRESERVATION OF ERROR, AND INTRODUCTION TO RAND'S ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL.

Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)

Green v. Racing Ass'n of Cent. Iowa, 713 N.W.2d 234 (Iowa 2006)

Griglione v. Martin, 525 N.W.2d 810 (Iowa 1994)

Keokuk Junction Ry. Co. v. IES Indus., Inc., 618 N.W.2d 352 (Iowa 2000)

McIlravy v. North River Ins. Co., 653 N.W.2d 323 (Iowa 2002)

Sweeney v. City of Bettendorf, 762 N.W.2d 873 (Iowa 2009)

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF DEFENDANT SNB AGAINST PLAINTIFF RAND'S CLAIM FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY.

Cowan v. Flannery, 461 N.W.2d 155 (Iowa 1990)

Davis v. Travelers Insurance Co., 196 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 1972)

Estate of Randeris v. Randeris, 523 N.W.2d 600 (Iowa App. 1994)

Gardner v. National Bulk Carriers, Inc., 310 F.2d 284 (4th Cir. 1962)

Hake v. Manchester Township, 98 N.J. 302, 486 A.2d 836 (1985)

Hayes v. Hayes, 48 N.H. 219 (1868)

Heacock v. Heacock, 402 Mass. 21, 520 N.E.2d 151 (Mass.1988)

In re Estate of Boyd, 634 N.W.2d 630 (Iowa 2001)

In re Estate of Pence, 511 N.W.2d 651 (Iowa Ct.App.1993)

In re Petition of Cigna Healthcare, 146 N.H. 683, 777 A.2d 884 (2001)

In re Smith's Estate, 240 Iowa 499, 36 N.W.2d 815 (1949)

Kurth v. Van Horn, 380 N.W.2d 693 (Iowa 1986)

Matter of Estate of Lamb, 584 N.W.2d 719 (Iowa Ct.App. 1998)

Matter of Estate of Morgan, 310 Ark. 220, 833 S.W.2d 776 (1992)

Matter of Guardianship of Matejski, 419 N.W.2d 576 (Iowa 1988)

Matter of Young's Estate, 273 N.W.2d 388 (Iowa 1978)

Rogers v. Rogers, 171 N.H. 738, 203 A.3d 85 (2019)

Roll v. Edwards, 2004-Ohio-767, 156 Ohio App. 3d 227, 805 N.E.2d 162 (2004)

Sabin v. Ackerman, 846 N.W.2d 835 (Iowa 2014)

Schmitz v. Crotty, 528 N.W.2d 112 (Iowa 1995)

Schreiner v. Scoville, 410 N.W.2d 679 (Iowa 1987)

Siegemund v. Shapland, 247 F. Supp. 2d 1 (D. Me. 2003)

St. Malachy Roman Catholic Congregation of Geneseo v. Ingram, 841 N.W.2d 338 (Iowa 2013)

Stauffer v. Nicholson, 438 S.W.3d 205 (Tex. App. 2014)

Wendland v. Sparks, 574 N.W.2d 327 (Iowa 1998)

Statutes

Iowa Code Chapter 633

Iowa Code Chapter 633A

Iowa Code Chapter 633.10

Other

2 Iowa Practice Series § 21:4: Jurisdiction and Venue

Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 31:1.1

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF DEFENDANT SNB AND AGAINST PLAINTIFF RAND AS TO HIS CLAIM FOR NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION.

Bagelmann v. First Nat. Bank, 823 N.W.2d 18 (Iowa 2012)

Kurth v. Van Horn, 380 N.W.2d 693 (Iowa 1986)

Matter of Simon's Estate, 288 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 1980)

Pitts v. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 818 N.W.2d 91 (Iowa 2012)

Statutes

Iowa Code Section 633.197

Other

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552 (1977)

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF DEFENDANT SNB AND AGAINST PLAINTIFF RAND AS TO HIS CLAIM OF FRAUD.

Beeck v. AquaslideN'Dive Corp., 350 N.W.2d 149 (Iowa 1984)

Cornell v. Wunschel, 408 N.W.2d 369 (Iowa 1987)

Garren v. First Realty Ltd., 481 N.W.2d 335 (Iowa 1992)

McGough v. Gabus, 526 N.W.2d 328 (Iowa 1995)

V. PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS FOR DAMAGES, INCLUDING EMOTIONAL DISTRESS DAMAGES, ATTORNEYS FEES, AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES SHOULD PROCEED TO TRIAL.

Blong v. Snyder, 361 N.W.2d 312 (Iowa Ct.App. 1984)

Cawthorn v. Catholic Health Initiatives Iowa Corp., 743 N.W.2d 525 (Iowa 2007)

Clark v. Estate of Rice ex rel Rice, 653 N.W.2d 166 (Iowa 2002)

Econ. Roofing & Insulating Co. v. Zumaris, 538 N.W.2d 641 (Iowa 1995)

Hockenberg Equip. Co. v. Hockenberg's Equip. & Supply Co. of Des Moines, 510 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 1993)

Hoepfner v. Holladay, 741 N.W.2d 823 (Iowa Ct. App. 2007)

Kline v. Keystar One, L.L.C., No. 99-1649, 2002 WL 681237 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 24, 2002) [Unpublished Opinion]

Midwest Mgmt. Corp. v. Stephens, 353 N.W.2d 76 (Iowa 1984)

Mills v. Guthrie Cnty. Rural Elec. Coop. Ass'n, 454 N.W.2d 846 (Iowa 1990)

Miranda v. Said, 836 N.W.2d 8, (Iowa 2013)

Oswald v. LeGrand, 453 N.W.2d 634 (Iowa 1990)

Suss v. Schammel, 375 N.W.2d 252 (Iowa 1985)

Williams v. Van Sickel, 659 N.W.2d 572 (Iowa 2003)

Statutes

Iowa Code Section 668A.1(1)(a)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ROUTING STATEMENT

The primary issues in this case involve substantial questions of public importance and of enunciating legal principles relating to the jurisdiction of Probate Courts and liability of fiduciaries to Estate beneficiaries. Therefore, the Iowa Supreme Court should retain the case pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Plaintiff-Appellant Todd Rand (hereinafter referred to as “Plaintiff” or “Rand”) appeals from the dismissal of his causes of action against Defendant-Appellee Security National Corporation d/b/a Security National Bank (hereinafter “Defendant” or “SNB”) for Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Negligent Misrepresentation, Fraud, and an Equitable Claim for Attorney Fees. Said claims were dismissed by the District Court upon review of Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

Summary of the Prior Proceedings

On September 18, 2018, Plaintiff filed a Petition and Jury Demand in the Iowa District Court for Woodbury County which asserted several causes of action against SNB in connection with fees charged in *In the Matter of the*

Estate of Roger E. Rand, Woodbury Co. ESPR054359, wherein SNB was the Personal Representative. (Petition and Jury Demand; App. 1-21). In Count I (Breach of Fiduciary Duty), Plaintiff alleged that SNB negligently or intentionally misrepresented to Plaintiff (a beneficiary of the Estate), *inter alia*, that SNB's fees and the fees charged by the Crary Law Firm would necessarily be, due to the terms of the Code of Iowa, a percentage of the value of the Estate. Moreover, it was alleged that SNB did not fully disclose the "sweetheart deal" they had with the Crary Law Firm, whereby in return for Crary's referral of SNB to be the Personal Representative, SNB would agree to pay Crary the maximum statutory fee Crary could claim under the Iowa Code. Plaintiff alleged these breaches (a) foreclosed Plaintiff from bargaining for better, more competitive fees; (b) seeking a different Personal Representative who would charge a smaller or different more acceptable fee; (c) caused Plaintiff to have to hire a lawyer to challenge SNB's attorney fee application; (d) put Plaintiff in the unnecessary and unfair position of being adversarial with the Personal Representative; (e) exposed Plaintiff and the Estate to the substantial risk of excessive fees and an unreasonable diminution in value.

In Count II (Negligent Representation by Security National Bank Who Provided Financial Information to Todd Rand and the Other

Beneficiaries of the Rand Estate), Plaintiff alleged that SNB misrepresented information about their fees, and sought compensatory and punitive damages. Count III (Fraud) alleged that SNB, by their misrepresentations, defrauded Plaintiff for their own personal gain, and sought compensatory and punitive damages as a result. Count IV (Equitable Claim for Common Law Attorney Fees) alleged that SNB's conduct exceeded the standard of willful and wanton disregard for the rights of another required for punitive damages and rose to the level of oppression or connivance to harass or injure another, thus entitling Plaintiff to attorney fees. Defendant SNB filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses with the Court on October 24, 2018. (Answer and Affirmative Defenses; App. 22-27).

Following discovery, Defendant SNB filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 12, 2019. (Motion for Summary Judgment; Brief in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment; and Statement of Undisputed Facts; App. 28-167). Plaintiff Rand filed a Resistance to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on January 20, 2020. (Plaintiff's Brief in Support of Resistance to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment; Plaintiff's Statement of Disputed Facts; and Plaintiff's Exhibits in Support of Resistance; App. 168-498). Defendant SNB filed a

Reply Brief on January 27, 2020 (App. 499-507) and Plaintiff filed a Sur-Reply Brief on January 30, 2020 (App. 508-511).

The matter was submitted to the District Court, and on January 26, 2021, the Court entered a Ruling and Order Re: Motion for Summary Judgment which dismissed all of Plaintiff's claims. (App. 512-551). An Order was granted on February 7, 2021, granting Defendant SNB's Rule 1.904(3) Motion or Request for an Order Nunc Pro Tunc. (App. 522). Plaintiff Rand filed a timely Notice of Appeal on February 19, 2021.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Rand is the son of Roger Rand, who died on August 29, 2016. (Petition and Jury Demand at ¶4, App. 1; Petition for Probate of Will and Codicil and Appointment of Personal Representative, *In the Matter of the Estate of Roger E. Rand*, Woodbury Co. ESPR054359, App. 30-31; Last Will and Testament of Roger E. Rand, *In the Matter of the Estate of Roger E. Rand*, Woodbury Co. ESPR054359, at Article II, App. 33). Roger Rand's four children, plus his girlfriend Constance Anderson, were the five listed beneficiaries set forth in Roger Rand's will, executed in January 2005. (Last Will and Testament of Roger E. Rand, Article II-V, VII-VIII, App. 33-34, 35-40; First Codicil to Last Will and Testament of Roger E. Rand, *In the Matter of the Estate of Roger E. Rand*, Woodbury Co. ESPR054359, at 1-2,

App. 47-48). His will was drafted by the law firm of Crary Huff Ringgenberg, Hartnett & Storm, P.C. (hereinafter “Crary”), and it designated Defendant SNB as the Personal Representative of his Estate. (Last Will and Testament of Roger E. Rand, Article XVI; App. 44-45). Roger Rand’s Iowa gross estate value is \$19,733,127.40. (Judge Deck Order, *In the Matter of the Estate of Roger E. Rand*, Woodbury Co. ESPR054359, p. 9; App. 358).

After Roger Rand’s death on August 29, 2016, Larry Storm of the Crary Firm, who had drafted his will, contacted SNB and notified them that they had been designated as the Personal Representative of the Estate. (Rand 5/8/19 depo. pp. 78:5-80:3; 82:17-84:25, App. 434-435; Gagnon 5/7/19 depo. pp. 42:20-43:3, App. 55). Plaintiff Rand met with employees of Defendant SNB on August 30, 2016. (Gagnon 5/7/19 depo. pp. 41:4-52:25, App. 54-56). The will was then admitted to probate. (Order Admitting Will and Codicil to Probate and Appointment Personal Representative, *In the Matter of the Estate of Roger E. Rand*, Woodbury Co. ESPR054359; App. 63-64). SNB hired Larry Storm of the Crary firm as the attorney for SNB without seeking a competitive quote but rather agreed to their fee of the maximum statutory rate. (Gagnon depo. pp. 11-13; 121:16-125:6, App. 456, 462-463; *see also* 9/14/16 letter from Larry Storm to Tammi Gagnon and SNB’s acknowledgement and consent to Crary’s fee

terms; Exhibit B to Plaintiff's Resistance to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, App. 240-242.)

SNB is a bank with attorneys in the trust department, while Plaintiff Rand was reliant on the bank as an individual small farmer, who for many years drove a truck and was without a college degree. (Twidwell 5/8/19 depo. pp. 4:10-9:6, App. 484-485; Rand 5/8/19 depo. pp. 5:3-6:11; 10:1-10; 14:15-16:9; 16:25-17:18, App. 428-431). SNB was under a duty to give accurate and true advice to Plaintiff Rand on the subject of Estate fees in the course of their advising Plaintiff on that topic in their "Estate Administration Overview" which SNB sent to Plaintiff in their letter dated September 20, 2016. (Exhibit G in support of Plaintiff's Resistance to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, 9/20/16 letter from Tammi Gagnon, App. 421-424). The September 20, 2016 letter from Gagnon of SNB was sent to each beneficiary, and Plaintiff Rand read it shortly thereafter. (Petition and Jury Demand, App. 1-10; Rand 5/8/19 depo. pp. 103:6-104:10, App. 61).

The September 2016 letter announced that SNB was the executor of the Estate and scheduled a meeting at the bank with Roger Rand's children. SNB enclosed in the letter a document they drafted titled "Estate Administration Overview" (Petition and Jury Demand, page 3, App. 19; Gagnon 5/7/19 depo. pp. 35:8-37:15, App. 457). Plaintiff Rand claims that

it was in this enclosure that SNB made its untrue representation to Plaintiff Rand and the other beneficiaries that estate attorney fees are a percentage of the gross estate. In this letter, SNB stated:

Enclosed for your information is an Estate Administration Overview that describes for you in general terms the steps involved in the administration of an estate. Please feel free to call me at [phone number] with any questions you may have.

Iowa law under the supervision of the District Court authorizes the compensation of the executor and attorney handling the estate. The fees are based on the appraised value of the estate reported for inheritance tax purposes whether taxable or not. The appraised value is taken as of the date of death. The fees are computed as follows:

6% of the first	\$1,000.00
4% of the next	\$4000.00
2% of the remaining value	

One-half of these fees may be paid at the time the inheritance tax return is prepared and one-half when the estate is closed.

(Gagnon 5/7/19 depo. pp. 38:24-39:6, App. 458.)

Marilyn Hagberg of SNB testified regarding SNB's pattern and practice:

Q: So my question is: Why didn't Security Bank tell beneficiaries or potential beneficiaries that the bank could also charge an authorized fee of an hourly?

A. Because the Bank didn't have the practice of charging hour fees in estates and didn't intend to charge fees in that way.

Q. And why didn't the— this language then inform the beneficiary that the attorney's fee could be an hourly and not necessarily the schedule as set out here; the percentage schedule?

A. For a similar reason; in that we understood the attorney intended to charge the statutory maximum as well.

(Hagberg 5/7/19 depo. pp. 16:19-17:9. App. 494). Hagberg drafted the pertinent "Estate Administration Overview" which Plaintiff Rand claims is misleading. (Gagnon 5/7/19 depo. pp. 71:1-12; App. 460). Plaintiff relied on the information SNB sent to him in their September 20, 2016 letter. (Rand 10/15/19 depo. pp. 38:10-39:20, App. 441).

Plaintiff Rand claims that SNB misled him to believe that Iowa law only allowed the statutory maximum percentage fee on Roger Rand's \$20,000,000 estate. (Plaintiff's Petition, Count I, paragraphs 14, 26, 27, 28, 31, 33, App. 2, 4-5). In doing so, Plaintiff Rand claims that SNB foreclosed an intelligent, knowing decision by Plaintiff to search elsewhere for a different, more competitive personal representative to administer his father's large estate. (See the testimony of retired District Court Judge Edward Jacobson regarding estate fees found in Plaintiff's Designation of Expert Witnesses filed on July 26, 2019, App. 374-386).

The Probate Court has the power to appoint someone other than who

the decedent named – a fact which SNB admitted in their testimony:

Q. So just because the bank is named as the executor doesn't mean the bank is necessarily going to accept the appointment?

A. Correct.

Q. And if somebody chooses, for example, an heir or an attorney for the estate requests that somebody else become the executor, the bank sometimes will defer to that wish.

A. After consideration.

Q. Are you aware of the fact that if somebody appoints Security Bank in the Will to be the executor, that that wish can be overridden by the court if somebody petitions to have another executor appointed?

A. Yes.

(Sitzmann 5/8/19 depo. pp. 25:18-26:9, App 474-475).

During a meeting at the bank with the beneficiaries on October 24, 2016, Gagnon and Hagberg told Plaintiff Rand then that it was their fiduciary duty to take care of him, and he did not need to hire an attorney. (Rand 5/8/19 depo. pp. 36:4-37:6; 124:22-125:7, App. 432, 437). SNB was in the business of being a fiduciary in probate matters. (Twidwell 5/8/19 depo. pp. 4:10-22; 8:11-9:6; 29:20; App. 484-485, 487. Hagberg 5/7/19 depo. pp. 4:9-7:19; 65:4-8, App. 492-493, 495. Sitzmann 5/8/19 depo. pp. 4:11-6:24; 11:19-12:8; 79:21-81:6; 119:1-120:17, App. 471-473, 479-480).

However, during discovery in the present proceedings, Storm and Gagnon (both experienced probate lawyers) denied their knowledge of the existence of a fiduciary duty to the beneficiaries of the Roger Rand Estate. (Larry Storm 1/4/17 depo. pp. 4:9-20; 10:14-25; 30:5-31:25, App. 466-468; Gagnon 1/4/17 depo. pp. 4:7-5:18; 16 :13-17, App. 15-16; Gagnon 5/7/19 depo. pp. 5:11-13:1, App. 454-456).

SNB's Wealth Management division, which did the probate work, was comprised mostly of very experienced and knowledgeable people, including lawyers who held themselves out as such, who carefully operated by committee and policy - the committee designed the form, which Plaintiff Rand claims were misleading, and the committee used the same misleading forms for many years and routinely sent them to all beneficiaries. (See Twidwell 5/8/19 depo. pp. 4:11-15; 6:17-9:6; 8:16-21; 12:8-20; 76:1-78:9, App. 484-486, 488; Sitzmann 5/8/19 depo. pp. 4:11-12:13; 5:14-24; 62:15-72:4; 121:6-21, App. 471-473, 476-478, 480; Hagberg 5/7/19 depo. pp. 4:9-7:19; App. 492-493; Gagnon 5/7/19 depo. pp. 5:11-13:1; 69:17-70:21; 71:1-72:13; 73:13-74:24; 75:23-77:14, App. 454-456, 459-461).

SNB advised Rand that they did not need a lawyer and misrepresented to him that the maximum fee they were charging was required by the probate code. (See Rand 5/8/19 depo. pp. 124:22-125:7, App. 437). SNB told Rand

to place his trust and confidence in them, and he did. (Rand 5/8/19 depo. pp. 48-23; 49:12; 124:22-125:7; App. 433, 437). Plaintiff Rand's testimony is that he was therefore misled and foreclosed from making a reasonable decision. (Rand 10/15/19 depo. pp. 88:5-89:19, App. 443).

In February of 2017, Plaintiff Rand employed the undersigned attorney, Stanley Munger as his personal attorney, and on February 9, 2017, attorney Munger sent a letter to the Crary law firm inquiring about their fees, as well as Defendant SNB's fees. (Letter from Stanley Munger to Larry Storm, February 9, 2017, App. 65). On February 16, 2017, Larry Storm of the Crary firm replied by letter and informed attorney Munger that "the Personal Representative will be filing an Application for Fees for ordinary services for the Personal Representative at some time in the future requesting that the Court allow reasonable fees in accordance with the Iowa statutes and probate code." (2/16/17 Storm letter, App. 66-67).

On October 23, 2017, Defendant SNB filed an Application for Fees for the Personal Representative's ordinary services and for the Attorney's ordinary and extraordinary services. (Application for Order Fixing Fees for Ordinary Services and Application for Interim Order Fixing Fees for Extraordinary Services, October 23, 2017, *In the Matter of the Estate of Roger E. Rand*, Woodbury Co. ESPR054359, App. 68-71).

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