IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 21-0227

**TODD RAND,
PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT,**

vs.

**SECURITY NATIONAL CORPORATION d/b/a
SECURITY NATIONAL BANK, an Iowa Corporation,
DEFENDANT/APPELLEE.**

On Appeal from the District Court for Woodbury County
Honorable Steven J. Andreasen

Woodbury County No. EQCV038478

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

JOHN C. GRAY, AT0002938
JOEL D. VOS, AT0008263
1128 Historic Fourth Street
P.O. Box 3086
Sioux City, IA 51102-3086
Telephone: (712) 255-8838
Facsimile: (712) 258-6714
E-mail: John.Gray@heidmanlaw.com
E-mail: Joel.Vos@heidmanlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE
SECURITY NATIONAL
CORPORATION d/b/a SECURITY
NATIONAL BANK

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

The Probate Code does not require personal representatives to submit an itemized claim or report. While itemization is required of fiduciaries other than personal representatives, Iowa Code Section 633.200 specifically excludes personal representatives from the itemization requirement. That statute provides that “[t]he

court shall allow and fix from time to time the compensation for fiduciaries, *other than personal representatives*, and their attorneys for such services as they shall render as shown by an itemized claim or report made and filed setting forth what services consist of during the period of time they continue to act in such capacities.” Iowa Code § 633.200 (emphasis added). There were no deficiencies in the manner in which the fee application was handled. Every aspect of it followed the applicable Iowa statutes and rules.

A violation of the Iowa Code provisions regarding compensation of personal representatives and executors does not give rise to a claim for a breach of fiduciary duty. The Probate Code identifies the acts that it considers to be a breach of fiduciary duty. Iowa Code § 633.160 (2021). Making a claim for compensation pursuant to Iowa Code Section 633.197 is not one of those acts. *Id.* Instead, the list of items which constitute a breach of fiduciary duty are “neglect or unreasonable delay in collecting the credits or other assets of the estate”, “neglect in paying over money or delivering property of the estate”, “failure to account for or to close the estate within the time provided by this probate code”, “any loss to the estate arising from the fiduciary's embezzlement or commingling”, “loss to the estate through self-dealing”, “loss to the estate arising from wrongful acts or omissions of any cofiduciaries which the fiduciary could have prevented”, and “any other negligent

or willful act or nonfeasance in the fiduciary's administration of the estate by which loss to the estate arises.” Iowa Code § 633.160 (2021).

While it is clear that an executor is a fiduciary, not all duties of an executor are fiduciary duties or give rise to a claim for breach of fiduciary duty. Not all conduct by a fiduciary can give rise to a claim for breach of fiduciary duty. In Iowa, for example, lawyers are clearly fiduciaries. *Stender v. Blessum*, 897 N.W.2d 491, 506 (Iowa 2017) (“At the outset, we recognize that the creation of an attorney-client relationship does impose on attorneys certain fiduciary duties.”). Yet, while attorneys are fiduciaries, “[t]he creation of an attorney–client relationship does not, however, impose upon the attorney fiduciary duties that extend on indefinitely.” *Id.* A violation of a lawyer disciplinary rule (e.g. a sexual relationship between attorney and client) does not, “by itself, give[] rise to an independent cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty.” *Id.* The fiduciary duties a lawyer owes a client are limited to “safeguarding the client’s confidences . . . and property . . .; avoiding impermissible conflicting interest . . .; dealing honestly with the client . . .; adequately informing the client . . .; following instructions of the client . . .; and not employing adversely to the client powers arising from the client-lawyer relationship.” *Id.* at 509 (citing Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers §§ 16(3) and 49).

Similarly, Iowa Code Section 633.160 establishes the acts which, if committed by a fiduciary, would constitute a breach of *fiduciary* duty. An executor may have other duties which are imposed upon it by statute—such as the requirement of seeking court approval for fees—which are not fiduciary duties. Therefore, even if that statutory duty is not fulfilled, it does not necessarily follow that an independent cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty is created. Only a breach of the duties contained in Iowa Code Section 633.160 can give rise to a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty.

On this point, an opinion of the South Dakota Supreme Court is instructive. In *Behrens v. Wedmore*, the South Dakota Supreme Court addressed whether a breach of fiduciary duty claim should have been given to the jury in a legal malpractice case where the lawyer allegedly asserted that his fee would be a flat 1% of the transaction after most of the work had been done. *Behrens v. Wedmore*, 698 N.W.2d 555 (S.D. 2005). With respect to the fee dispute, the South Dakota Supreme Court held that the case did not present a claim for breach of fiduciary duty. The South Dakota Supreme Court noted that, “in analyzing this issue, we see no legal error because a failure to charge a reasonable fee or a failure to timely communicate the basis of a fee in violation of Rule 1.5 does not automatically establish a breach of a fiduciary duty.” *Id.* at 575. The *Behrens* opinion further explained:

In this case, Behrens were not entitled to a breach of fiduciary duty instruction because they were unable to establish that the failure to

communicate the basis of the fee, or the dispute over the reasonableness of the fee, involved a breach of a fiduciary duty; i.e., one involving confidentiality or loyalty. We note that numerous courts have discussed breach of fiduciary duty when an attorney embezzles, engages in conflicts of interest, or violates obligations of loyalty, thus violating the common-law duty of a fiduciary. However, no such facts were presented in this case. Therefore, we believe that, absent some showing of misuse of trust, conflict of interest, breach of loyalty, or other conduct involving honesty and fair dealing in the attorney-client relationship, an untimely disclosure and subsequent disagreement over the reasonableness of a fee does not necessarily involve a breach of a fiduciary duty.

Id. at 576–77. Applying the rationale of *Behrens* to the facts of this case, an untimely or incomplete disclosure of the fee that Security National Bank intended to seek does not by itself create a breach of fiduciary duty absent a concurrent violation of Iowa Code Section 633.160 (such as embezzlement and self-dealing). *See also Martin v. Bell Orr Ayers & Moore, P.S.C.*, 2018 WL 4037818, *10 (Ky. App. 2018) (“We hold Kentucky does not recognize a claim of legal malpractice or breach of fiduciary duty based solely on a fee dispute between an executor or attorney of an Estate and the client in a probate case.”); *cf. Sears Roebuck & Co. v. Goldstone & Sudalter*, 128 F.3d 10, 17 (1st Cir. 1997) (“However, attorneys, like fiduciaries generally, are entitled to receive compensation for their services, and may pursue their legitimate interests in receiving payment in the ordinary fashion. Thus, seeking to enforce a valid fee contract is an exception to the general requirement that fiduciaries subordinate their interests to those of their clients.”). The District Court properly

rejected Plaintiff's attempt to transform a dispute about ordinary executor's fees into a breach of fiduciary duty claim. The obligations of an executor with respect to a fee application simply are not fiduciary duties.

II. The District Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment in Favor of SNB on Plaintiff's Claim for Negligent Misrepresentation.

A. Preservation of Error.

SNB agrees that this issue was raised in its motion for summary judgment and was ruled on by Judge Andreasen. The District Court decided the issue adversely to Plaintiff. District Court Ruling, at 16-21, 39, App. 527-32, 550. The issue was raised and decided in the Summary Judgment Ruling, and error has been preserved.

B. The District Court Properly Determined that Plaintiff could not establish the elements of a claim for negligent misrepresentation.

The District Court noted that Plaintiff's negligent misrepresentation claim relied upon an identical set of facts as the Plaintiff's breach of fiduciary duty claim:

In the within matter, Plaintiff's alleged misrepresentations are essentially identical to the factual allegations supporting Plaintiff's breach of fiduciary duty cause of action. The alleged misrepresentations are the information given and statements made by Defendant in regard to executor and attorney fees. Based upon the record submitted and viewing that record in a light most favorable to Plaintiff, the Court concludes that Defendant is entitled to Judgment of dismissal as a matter of law in regard to this negligence and misrepresentation cause of action. The only "misrepresentation" alleged by Plaintiff is governed by the Probate Code.

District Court Ruling, at 19. Ultimately, the District Court determined that a remedy for negligent misrepresentation did not exist in tort for this fee dispute, and that Plaintiff's sole recourse was to pursue the remedies provided in the Probate Code:

Again, a negligence claim requires proof of a duty to act, a breach of that duty, and resulting damages. In the within matter, the only duty that existed between Defendant and the Plaintiff was the fiduciary duty of Defendant as Executor to Plaintiff as a beneficiary under the Probate Code and in the Estate proceedings. For the same reasons discussed above, this Court concludes that such breach of duty claims (whether captioned as fiduciary or negligence) are exclusively addressed within the Probate Code and the Estate proceedings and that a separate cause of action at law is not recognizable.

Id. at 21. The logic and caselaw cited in the District Court's analysis with respect to the breach of fiduciary duty claim apply with equal force to the tort of negligent misrepresentation. There is a statutory remedy for breach of fiduciary duty which provides a remedy for any other negligent or willful act or nonfeasance in the fiduciary's administration of the estate. *See* Iowa Code § 633.160 (2021).

1. The District Court properly found that Plaintiff could not establish that he relied upon the September 2016 letter.

While the finding that Plaintiff did not have a tort remedy was correct and sufficient by itself, the District Court also discussed the merits of the negligent misrepresentation claim. The District Court correctly found that in most instances Plaintiff alleged a failure to inform, which is not a misrepresentation upon which a negligent misrepresentation claim can be based:

Plaintiff's other claims, however, involve a failure to inform or mere silence. Plaintiff's factual allegations that Defendant failed to inform or advise him of the "rights" to retain a different executor, negotiate a lower executor fee, retain a different attorney for the executor, and/or negotiate or enter into a different fee arrangement or contract with the attorney for the Estate, therefore, cannot form the basis of the negligent misrepresentation claim.

Id. at 19. On this point, the District Court correctly cited Iowa precedent. *See Wilden Clinic, Inc., v. City of Des Moines*, 229 N.W.2d 286, 292-293 (Iowa 1975) (noting that mere silence or concealment of a fact or information is not misrepresentation unless there is some affirmative legal duty to communicate such fact or information to the other party).

The District Court then analyzed the only remaining alleged misrepresentation, found in the September 2016 letter, in which SNB arguably asserted that the schedule in Iowa Code § 633.197 provided the fee calculation, rather than stating the maximum fee calculation. On that point, the District Court properly found that there was no evidence that the Plaintiff relied upon the September 2016 letter:

Viewing the record in a light most favorable to Plaintiff and for the reasons discussed more in regard to the Fraud claim, the Court concludes that no reasonable jury could find that Plaintiff relied upon the alleged "misrepresentation" made regarding fees in the September 2016 correspondence.

District Court Ruling, at 21, App. 532. "The tort of negligent misrepresentation requires proof that the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation made by the

defendant.” *Pollmann v. Belle Plaine Livestock Auction, Inc.*, 567 N.W.2d 405, 409 (Iowa 1997). In denying the fraud claim, the District Court properly made this observation about the reliance element:

Plaintiff retained counsel in the Estate proceedings no later than February 2017 when his attorney exchanged correspondence with the attorney for the Estate. At that time (February 2017 at the latest), Plaintiff would have known through counsel for Defendant that the ordinary fees of Defendant as Executor and attorneys for the Estate were to be determined by the Court; that the maximum ordinary fees to be awarded would be the percentages of the value of the assets that were set forth in the initial September 2016 letter; and that Defendant as Executor was intending to apply for Executor fees and attorney fees in accordance with the Probate Code, specifically including those statutory maximums. Any misrepresentation regarding fees in the initial September 2016 (no reference to “maximum” allowed) were therefore corrected through that February 2017 correspondence between counsel. No reasonable jury could find that Plaintiff took some action or failed to take some action to his detriment between September 2016 and February 2017 in reliance upon Defendant’s statement that the Executor and attorney fees were based upon the value of the assets and were computed based upon those percentages as reflected in the September 2016 correspondence.

District Court Ruling, at 25-26, App. 536-37. The District Court is correct. There is no evidence in this case that Plaintiff actually relied on the September 2016 letter. Instead, Plaintiff challenged the fees sought by SNB. *See* Exhibits 9-11, App. 68-90.

2. The District Court properly found that Plaintiff cannot establish that he suffered damages due to the September 2016 letter.

Plaintiff alleges that he potentially has additional damages because the September 2016 letter foreclosed him from the opportunity to seek another executor

that would agree to do the job for less than SNB. The existence of a willing, cheaper and competent, alternate executor (that would have been acceptable not only to Plaintiff but also to the other beneficiaries of the Estate) is pure speculation, unsupported by anything in the record.

On damages, the District Court held as follows:

More importantly, the court in the Estate proceeding already ordered lower executor fees and lower attorney fees than the statutory amounts requested and represented to Plaintiff in the September 2016 correspondence. Plaintiff's claimed damages and remedy has, therefore, already been received. No reasonable jury could find additional monetary damages in this regard.

In regard to the executor fee issue, Plaintiff also conceded in his deposition that he and the other beneficiaries would not have been suitable co-executors because they were not on good terms. There is no factual issue raised, therefore, and no reasonable jury could find that the probate court would have appointed the beneficiaries as successor co-executors who would have waived a fee, thus reducing the executor fees further below the amount ordered in the Estate proceeding.

District Court Ruling, at 30, App. 541.

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